#### **Uldaho Law**

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-18-2017

## State v. Vaughn Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45104

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

Ronald Vaughn contends the district court erred when it decided his statements made prior to receiving *Miranda*<sup>1</sup> warnings were admissible during his jury trial. A reasonable person in Mr. Vaughn's situation would not have felt free to leave the extended traffic stop on the side of a freeway with one of the three uniformed officers standing over him while the other two searched his car with a drug dog. Therefore, Mr. Vaughn's freedom was curtailed to the degree associated with a formal arrest, and thus, he was "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes. As such, this Court should reverse the decision to admit those unwarned statements, vacate the judgment of conviction, and remand this case for further proceedings.

#### Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

As part of an ongoing drug investigation, officers saw Mr. Vaughn travel to Salt Lake City.<sup>2</sup> (Tr., p.48, L.6 - p.49, L.6.) They suspected he had gone there to purchase drugs. (Tr., p.47, L.11 - p.48, L.5.) As a result, they planned to stop and arrest him as he returned to Boise. (Tr., p.49, L.24 - p.50, L.13, p.53, Ls.21-25.) To effectuate that, they conducted what the prosecutor described as a pretext stop on his car. (Tr., p.62, Ls.7-10; *see also* Tr., p.51, Ls.4-11 (the officer describing the nature of that stop).) The traffic stop occurred on I-84 on the outskirts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The officers had attached a GPS device to Mr. Vaughn's car pursuant to a federal search warrant. (*See* Grand Jury Tr., p.19, Ls.15 - p.20, L.7.) The district court took judicial notice of the transcript from the grand jury proceedings, as well as the application and order for that warrant (*see* Sealed Exhibit ("Vaughn 45104 sealed.pdf")), during the hearing on Mr. Vaughn's motion to suppress the evidence due to the officers abandoning the purpose of the stop. (Tr., p.24, Ls.15-17.)

of Boise in the late afternoon or early evening hours. (*See* Tr., p.49, Ls.11-22; Grand Jury Tr., p.24, Ls.18-19.)

Three uniformed officers responded to the immediate traffic stop in three different marked vehicles. (*See* Grand Jury Tr., p.25, Ls.4-13; Tr., p.51, Ls.4-11.) One of those officers had a police dog with him. (Grand Jury Tr., p.25, Ls.10-13.) Another plain-clothes officer and a federal agent oversaw the traffic stop from a short distance away. (Grand Jury Tr., p.24, L.18 - p.25, L.3; *see* Grand Jury Tr., p.22, Ls.3-5; Tr., p.51, Ls.22-23.) There were other undercover officers in unmarked police cars who had been part of the surveillance team which had followed Mr. Vaughn from Jerome, at least one of whom was also in the area of the traffic stop. (*See* Tr., p.52, Ls.2-16.)

During the traffic stop, officers had Mr. Vaughn get out of his car and sit on the guardrail on the side of the freeway. (Grand Jury Tr., p.25, Ls.7-9.) One of the officers stood by him the entire time. (Tr., p.10, Ls.1-3.) The other two officers and the dog proceeded to search his car. (Grand Jury Tr., p.27, L.18 - p.28, L.13.) During that time, Mr. Vaughn responded to officers' questions, making several incriminating statements, which included admitting to using methamphetamine earlier that day. (*See, e.g.*, Tr., p.88, Ls.2-18 (the prosecutor describing those comments while arguing her notice of intent to present evidence under I.R.E. 404(b).) The prosecutor admitted Mr. Vaughn had not been informed of his rights at any point during the roadside questioning. (Tr., p.95, Ls.23-25.) Based on the evidence the officers found in searching Mr. Vaughn's car, the State charged Mr. Vaughn with trafficking heroin, possessing methamphetamine, and possessing drug paraphernalia. (R., pp.9-11, 18-19.)

Mr. Vaughn moved to suppress the evidence found during the searches of his car based on the fact that officers had immediately abandoned the initial purpose of the stop to conduct the

initial search of his car. (R., pp.47-52 (asserting, for example, that none of the officers were preparing traffic citation during the dog sniff).) After a hearing on that motion, the district court denied that motion, finding the officers had reasonable suspicion to extend the scope of the traffic stop based on the information they had gathered during the drug investigation. (Tr., p.66, Ls.1-23.)

The State also filed a notice of intent to use evidence under I.R.E. 404(b), specifically, the information about the drug investigation and Mr. Vaughn's admissions during a subsequent interrogation at the police station.<sup>3</sup> (R., pp.83-86.) Mr. Vaughn objected to that notice, moving to suppress all that evidence as unduly prejudicial or cumulative instead. (R., pp.93-96) The district court did not take up that issue until the day of trial. (*See generally* Tr., p.75, L.15 - p.105, L.3.)

While arguing that issue, the prosecutor asserted that Mr. Vaughn's statements made on the side of the freeway should also be considered admissible as evidence of his knowledge and intent. (Tr., p.87, L.15 - p.89, L.20.) Defense counsel responded that Mr. Vaughn had just told him that he had not been informed of his rights before making the roadside statements. (Tr., p.90, Ls.17-20.) Defense counsel conceded that he had been provided recordings of the traffic stop some months prior. (*See* Tr., p.97, L.24.) Nevertheless, defense counsel argued that the roadside statements should not be admitted because Mr. Vaughn was in custody at the time he made those unwarned statements and introducing them would be unduly prejudicial. (Tr., p.90, L.25 - p.21, L.9.) Although the State argued Mr. Vaughn's arguments in that respect should be procedurally barred under I.C.R. 12 (Tr., p.97, Ls.7-14), the district court ruled on the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Vaughn was read his *Miranda* rights prior to that subsequent interrogation at the police station. (Grand Jury Tr., p.34, L.17 - p.35, L.10.)

merits of Mr. Vaughn's motion, concluding there was no *Miranda* violation because Mr. Vaughn was not in custody when he made those statements. (Tr., p.98, Ls.6-11.)

The prosecutor ultimately presented the roadside statements during Mr. Vaughn's trial. (*See, e.g.*, State's Exhibit 27.) During her closing arguments to the jury, she argued that those statements helped show Mr. Vaughn's guilt. (Tr., p.525, Ls.14-24, p.529, Ls.16-19.) The jury convicted Mr. Vaughn on all counts. (R., p.165.)

The district court imposed an aggregate twenty-year sentence on Mr. Vaughn, consisting of a twenty-year sentence, with ten years fixed, for the trafficking charge, a concurrent seven-year sentence, with three years fixed, on the possession charge, and a concurrent one-hundred-eighty-day sentence on the paraphernalia charge. (R., pp.167-68.) Mr. Vaughn filed a notice of appeal timely from the judgment of conviction. (R., pp.177-79.)

## <u>ISSUE</u>

Whether the district court erred when it concluded Mr. Vaughn was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes during the pretext traffic stop.

#### ARGUMENT

## The District Court Erred When It Concluded Mr. Vaughn Was Not In Custody For *Miranda*Purposes During The Pretext Traffic Stop

#### A. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

The standard of review in regard to a defendant's motion to suppress evidence is bifurcated. *See, e.g., State v. Smith*, 159 Idaho 15, 18-19, 23-24 (Ct. App. 2015). The appellate court defers to the district court's findings of fact which are supported by substantial evidence, but reviews the district court's conclusions of law *de novo*. *Id*.

B. <u>A Reasonable Person In Mr. Vaughn's Situation Would Not Have Felt Free To Leave</u>

<u>During The Extended Detention On The Side Of A Freeway, Which Means He Was "In Custody" For *Miranda* Purposes</u>

Although this issue came to light through the State's notice of intent to present evidence under I.R.E. 404(b), and not Mr. Vaughn's initial, timely motion to suppress, Mr. Vaughn did move to suppress the roadside statements as part of his response to State's notice. (*See* R., pp.93-96; Tr., p.90, L.25 - p.21, L.19.) Additionally, the district court ruled on the merits of Mr. Vaughn's motion in that regard. (Tr., p.98, Ls.6-11.) In so doing, it implicitly rejected the State's challenge to that argument under I.C.R. 12. *Cf. State v. Middleton*, 114 Idaho 377, 380 (Ct. App. 1988) (looking to the implicit findings of the district court in a situation where neither party requested findings of fact under I.C.R. 12(d)). Therefore, this Court has authority to review the propriety of the district court's ruling on the merits of Mr. Vaughn's motion. *See, e.g., State v. Beck*, 157 Idaho 402, 405 (Ct. App. 2014) (considering the propriety of implicit findings on a motion to suppress); *see also State v. DuValt*, 131 Idaho 550, 553 (1998) (holding the appellate courts have authority to rule on issues directly addressed by the district court).

Under the Fifth Amendment, statements made during a custodial interrogation are not admissible unless the defendant has been properly informed of his rights prior to making the statements. *See Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 478. A defendant is "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes when his "freedom of action is curtailed to a degree associated with formal arrest." *State v. Hamlin*, 156 Idaho 307, 313 (Ct. App. 2014); *accord Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 439-40 (1984). That determination is made by evaluating how a reasonable person in the suspect's position would have understood his or her situation. *Hamlin*, 156 Idaho at 313. Relevant factors include the location and time of the stop, the length of the interview, the nature and tone of the questioning, whether the defendant was there voluntarily, and the demeanor of the people involved. *Id.* As a result, "if a motorist who has been detained pursuant to a traffic stop thereafter is subjected to treatment that renders him 'in custody' for practical purposes, he will be entitled to the full panoply of protections prescribed by *Miranda*." *State v. James*, 148 Idaho 574, 577 (2010) (quoting *Berkemer*, 468 U.S. at 421).

For example, in *State v. Myers*, unusual or extensive police efforts during a traffic stop indicated the defendant was "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes. *State v. Myers*, 118 Idaho 608, 610-11 (Ct. App. 1990). Specifically, in that case, several officers responded to the initial traffic stop, they all remained on the scene, and their questions went specifically to a drug investigation. *Id.* at 611-12; *compare Smith*, 159 Idaho at 18-19, 23-24 (concluding the defendant was not "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes when a lone officer asked the defendant about the drugs he had while frisking the defendant).

Like in *Myers*, there was unusual or excessive police force in and around the traffic stop of Mr. Vaughn. Three uniformed officers in three separate marked police cars responded to the immediate traffic stop and remained on scene. (Grand Jury Tr., p.25, Ls.4-13; Tr., p.51,

Ls.4-11.) Another plain-clothes officer and a federal agent oversaw the stop from a short distance away. (Grand Jury Tr., p.22, Ls.3-5; p.24, L.18 - p.25, L.3; Tr., p.51, Ls.22-23.) At least one other undercover officer who had been involved in the moving surveillance team that had been following Mr. Vaughn for several hours was also likely nearby. (*See* Tr., p.52, Ls.2-16.) As such, there were at least five, if not more, officers in and around the traffic stop in this case.

Furthermore, one of the uniformed officers stood next to Mr. Vaughn throughout the encounter. (Tr., p.10, Ls.1-3.) The officers also never returned his identification or registration information. (Tr., p.11, Ls.5-7.) In fact, the officers immediately abandoned the initial purpose for the stop, extending the detention to pursue the drug investigation instead. (*See* Grand Jury Tr., p.27, Ls.1-21.) As a result, the two other officers and a police dog were engaged in searching his car. (*See* Grand Jury Tr., p.28, Ls.7-13.) That search occurred on the side of a freeway on the outskirts of Boise, such that Mr. Vaughn could not have safely walked away from the stop. (*See* Tr., p.55, Ls.9-20 (one of the officers testifying these safety concerns led them to take Mr. Vaughn's car to another location before conducting a more thorough search of the car).)

Given the totality of the circumstances, Mr. Vaughn's freedom of movement was restricted in the way associated with a formal arrest, such that a reasonable person in that situation would not have felt free to leave. As such, Mr. Vaughn was "in custody" for purposes of *Miranda*. Since the prosecutor conceded that Mr. Vaughn had not been read his rights on the roadside (Tr., p.95, Ls.23-25), the district court erroneously held that those unwarned statements were admissible during his trial.

## **CONCLUSION**

Mr. Vaughn respectfully requests this Court reverse the order admitting his un-Mirandized statements, vacate his conviction and remand this case for further proceedings.