Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-13-2018

State v. Vaughn Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45104

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

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Vaughn Has Waived His Miranda Challenge By Raising It For The First Time On</u> <u>Appeal</u>

It is well-settled that Idaho's appellate courts "will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal." <u>State v. Garcia-Rodriguez</u>, 162 Idaho 271, ____, 396 P.3d 700, 704 (2017) (quoting <u>Mickelsen Const., Inc. v. Horrocks</u>, 154 Idaho 396, 405, 299 P.3d 203, 212 (2013)). "Issues not raised below will not be considered by this court on appeal, and the parties will be held to the theory upon which the case was presented to the lower court." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Heckman Ranches, Inc. v. State, By & Through Dep't of Pub. Lands</u>, 99 Idaho 793, 799–800, 589 P.2d 540, 546–47 (1979); <u>Marchbanks v. Roll</u>, 142 Idaho 117, 119, 124 P.3d 993, 995 (2005); <u>Frasier v. Carter</u>, 92 Idaho 79, 82, 437 P.2d 32, 35 (1968) ("We have held generally that this court will not review issues not presented in the trial court, and that parties will be held to the theory on which the cause was tried.")).

Below, Vaughn's motion to suppress was premised on a single theory: "[b]ecause there was no reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal activity, this was an unreasonable extension of a traffic stop in violation of the Fourth Amendment." (R., p.52.) Vaughn's motion did not seek suppression of his statements based on a purported <u>Miranda</u> violation (see R., pp.47-52), nor did he ever cite any Fifth or Sixth Amendment authority in his briefing (see R., pp.47-52), or make any <u>Miranda</u> arguments during the suppression hearing (Tr., p.59, L.9 – p.61, L.8). Unsurprisingly, the district court denied Vaughn's motion to suppress on the theory that was presented—the claimed Fourth Amendment violation—and did not *sua sponte* make a <u>Miranda</u> ruling instead. (See Tr., p.66, L.1 – p.67, L.1.) Because Vaughn did not raise his <u>Miranda</u> claim in his motion to suppress, he cannot raise it now for the first time on appeal. <u>Garcia-Rodriguez</u>, 162 Idaho at ____, 396 P.3d at 704.

Vaughn points to the parties' discussion on the morning of trial, and argues that during the hearing on the State's 404(b) motion and Vaughn's motion *in limine*, "Mr. Vaughn did move to suppress the roadside statements," and the district court "implicitly" ruled on this motion. (Appellant's brief, p.6 (citing R., pp.93-96; Tr., p.90, L.25 – p.21, L.19).) "Therefore," Vaughn claims, "this Court has authority to review the propriety of the district court's ruling on the merits of Mr. Vaughn's motion." (Appellant's brief, p.6.)

This claim fails. First, Vaughn's motion *in limine* to exclude evidence specifically stated that it was "based upon Idaho Rules of Evidence 403, and 404(b) and supporting case law." (R., p.93.) Like Vaughn's motion to suppress, it made no mention whatsoever of any <u>Miranda</u> violation. (See R., pp.93-96.)

Moreover, it is unclear from Vaughn's counsel's statements during the 404(b) motion hearing that he was moving to suppress statements based on a <u>Miranda</u> violation, as opposed to shoring up the prejudice prong of his 404(b) response:

My client tells me that a lot of the information he provided to these officers were [sic] prior to being advised of his right to remain silent or his right to have an attorney present.

I didn't get a chance to look into that more—in more detail. Of course, this would delay proceedings in search of another Motion to Suppress those statements if indeed they were pre Miranda.

The comments on the side of the road—again, there was no rights given [sic] at that stage. I do know that he was in police custody at the time of the questioning, and that there were no syringes located in his truck or bag.

So, Your Honor, *I think those statements are prejudicial*. I know the State cites that case, but I am somewhat at a loss of what to request here with the late disclosure and the fact that my client is prejudiced in and of itself regarding the late disclosure.

(Tr., p.90, L.17 – p.91, L.9 (emphasis added).)

Vaughn's counsel made an offhand reference to <u>Miranda</u>, indicated that, "of course," *another* Motion to Suppress would need to be filed to raise the issue properly, and concluded the statements were prejudicial. He did not, however, conclude that <u>Miranda</u> barred the admission of the statements, or clearly indicate that he was moving *at that time* to suppress, as Vaughn now claims he was. (See Tr., p.90, L.17 – p.91, L.9.)

Even assuming Vaughn's remarks amounted to an impromptu, <u>Miranda</u>-based suppression motion, it is even less clear that the district court ever ruled on such a motion. The district court's remarks on the issue came after the state correctly pointed out that such a motion would be untimely per the district court's scheduling order. (Tr., p.97, Ls.7-14 (citing R., p.43).) Placed in that context, while the district court admittedly addressed <u>Miranda</u>, it did not clearly state whether it was *presently* denying a motion to suppress, or musing about what it *would* have done had a timely motion been filed, or simply reserving ruling on the issue:

All right. Well, based upon what I've heard this morning, it appears to the court that there was not a violation of Miranda regarding the information on the tapes at the scene. From what I've heard, the defendant voluntarily disclosed those things when he was not in custody or otherwise. The facts and circumstances there do not disclose a Miranda violation....

The evidence, again, I think is admissible as relevant as otherwise explained by the State. So in the exercise of its discretion, the court is not going to grant any Motion to Suppress or exclude that evidence. *Though if the defense can—if the defense has additional information or arguments, I think I'd be willing to rehear the arguments, if there are any, and we can take that up outside the presence of the jury....*

It does sound to me as though [audio recordings at issue] were disclosed last month. So while that might not have been proper timing for the defense to have filed a motion within 28 days of the scheduling order, *the fact of the matter is if the defense would have made the motion earlier, I certainly would have dealt with it and heard it,* and we might have all had a chance to listen to those tapes and things.

But so from that perspective, *I will deny the motion in limine, motion to suppress or exclude as the case may be as we've heard it here today.*

(Tr., p.98, L.5 - p.99, L.20 (emphasis added).) Following this nebulous statement, the

court clarified what it said, making it even more apparent that it was not ruling on an

eleventh-hour motion to suppress, because no such motion had been filed:

[PROSECUTOR]: Judge, may I just quickly ask? I don't want to belabor this, but in Your Honor's record related to the recordings; I just wanted to clarify.

What I'm getting from the defense is that there's an objection or an assertion that there was [sic] un-Mirandized statements and that would have been at the scene of the traffic stop. So Officer Martinez and Officer Beaudoin.

Those recordings were provided in November. The only audio that was provided last month was—under what we're discussing, was the audio recording of the interview, and that was Mirandized and the defendant signed a Miranda form. I have a copy of the form. It was provided to counsel, and it's bait stamped [sic] number 64.

So I just want to make that clarification. I know Your Honor was just making a quick ruling, but I think it's important to make the distinction because the claimed un-Mirandized statements were within the defendant's possession since November and could have been brought to the court's attention pursuant to your scheduling order and 12(B).

THE COURT: *I think it's fair to say that's what I meant*. If I didn't make myself clear, then I would apologize. But, yes, I did understand that he had the on scene tapes in November *and certainly any issues about that could have and should have been brought in a timely matter*.

(Tr., p.101, L.15 - p.102, L.16 (emphasis added).) The court went on to say that "if a

Motion to Suppress or something had been filed, let's say, in late February or something,

we would have taken the time to get that heard without trying to deal with it this morning when we all might have been better able to be fully prepared." (Tr., p.102, Ls.19-23.)

The state revisited the issue before the second day of trial, and the district court again indicated that the court's ruling was based on the 404(b) issues, and not a suppression issue, to which Vaughn had no comment:

[PROSECUTOR]: Judge, the only other thing I just wanted to make sure—again, I'm just want it be [sic] abundantly clear—in terms of the on body video by Officer Beaudoin and the audio recording by Officer Martinez, the defendant makes statements about recent meth, use as well as directs the officers to syringes and a spoon in the truck.

And it was my understanding that it was Your Honor's ruling that those statements were admissible and they're not propensity, but rather evidence that goes directly to elements that the State must prove in terms of knowledge and the specific intent on the paraphernalia.

THE COURT: Any comments, Mr. Stewart?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Well, I do think that both of those items are evidence of intent, which is required in Count Three. So I do find that those are relevant and admissible.

(Tr., p.289, Ls.7-24.) Moreover, Vaughn had a final opportunity to object to the audio recording—and clarify the basis for his objection—when the state moved to admit the exhibit; instead, Vaughn's counsel stated he had "[n]o objection" to its admission. (Tr., p.439, Ls.4-16.)

All told, Vaughn fails to show that he made a motion to suppress during the pretrial hearings, or even if he did, that the district court "implicitly" ruled on a <u>Miranda</u> question in response. Because Vaughn is claiming, for the first time on appeal, that his

statements should have been suppressed due to <u>Miranda</u> violations, he has waived that argument on appeal.

II. Vaughn Failed To Show That The District Court Erred On The Merits

A. Introduction

Alternatively, even assuming the district court made an implicit ruling on an implied motion to suppress, Vaughn fails to show the district court erred in denying that motion.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

This Court reviews suppression motion orders with a bifurcated standard. <u>State v.</u> <u>Wulff</u>, 157 Idaho 416, 418, 337 P.3d 575, 577 (2014). When a decision on a motion to suppress is challenged, the appellate court accepts the trial court's findings of fact that are not clearly erroneous, but freely reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts. <u>Id.</u>

C. <u>Even Assuming Vaughn Made A *Miranda*-Based Motion To Suppress, He Fails</u> To Show The District Court Erred By Concluding He Was Not In Custody

To safeguard the Fifth Amendment's protections against self-incrimination, the United States Supreme Court held in <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 478-79 (1966), that before an individual is subjected to custodial interrogation, the interrogating officers must advise the individual of certain rights, including the right to remain silent. The test for whether an individual is in custody for purposes of <u>Miranda</u> is whether, in light of the totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation, there was a "formal arrest or

restraint on freedom of movement' of the degree associated with a formal arrest." <u>California v. Beheler</u>, 463 U.S. 1121, 1125 (1983) (quoting <u>Oregon v. Mathiason</u>, 429 U.S. 492, 495 (1977)).

Because <u>Miranda</u>'s custody test requires either an arrest, or a restraint on freedom associated with a formal arrest, a person subjected to an investigative detention based on reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, although not "free to leave," is not necessarily in custody for purposes of <u>Miranda</u>. <u>State v. Silver</u>, 155 Idaho 29, 32, 304 P.3d 304, 307 (Ct. App. 2013) ("The freedom-of-movement inquiry is, however, only a necessary and not a sufficient condition for Miranda custody."); <u>see also Maryland v. Shatzer</u>, 559 U.S. 98, 111–13 (2010); <u>Berkemer v. McCarty</u>, 468 U.S. 420 (1984); <u>State v. Ybarra</u>, 102 Idaho 573, 634 P.2d 435 (1981); <u>State v. Silva</u>, 134 Idaho 848, 854, 11 P.3d 44, 50 (Ct. App. 2000). For example, neither traffic stops nor the conducting of standard field sobriety tests immediately implicate <u>Miranda</u>. <u>Berkemer</u>, 468 U.S. at 440; <u>State v. Pilik</u>, 129 Idaho 50, 52, 921 P.2d 750, 752 (Ct. App. 1996).

The standard for determining when a suspect is in custody and <u>Miranda</u> warnings are required does not depend on the officer's or suspect's subjective beliefs. Rather, the relevant inquiry is how a reasonable person in the suspect's position would have understood his or her situation. <u>Berkemer</u>, 468 U.S. at 442; <u>State v. Doe</u>, 137 Idaho 519, 523, 50 P.3d 1014, 1018 (2002); <u>State v. Albaugh</u>, 133 Idaho 587, 591, 990 P.2d 753, 757 (Ct. App. 1999). Specifically, the inquiry is "whether a reasonable person would believe he or she was in police custody to a degree associated with formal arrest, not whether the person would believe he or she was not free to leave." <u>Silva</u>, 134 Idaho at 854, 11 P.3d at 50.

Of particular relevance here, "the burden of showing custody rests on the defendant seeking to exclude evidence based on a failure to administer Miranda warnings." <u>State v. James</u>, 148 Idaho 574, 577, 225 P.3d 1169, 1172 (2010) (emphasis added). The <u>James</u> Court was assessing a case—much like this one—that was "most remarkable" for its lack of evidence regarding the purported interrogation. <u>Id.</u> The <u>James</u>

Court noted that:

At the [motion to suppress] hearing, James' attorney did not present testimony. The only evidence before the district court was the transcript of the preliminary hearing. As a result of the late filing of the brief and the State's inability to respond thereto, the district court did not consider James' brief but did consider his attorney's argument in support of the motion.

Id. at 576, 225 P.3d at 1171. Following James's failure to develop a record below, the

district court there naturally made "relatively few findings of fact" regarding the stop:

The defendant was a passenger in a vehicle that was stopped for possible driving under the influence. During a search of the vehicle, and [sic] officer found what he suspected to be a controlled substance and drug paraphernalia. The defendant was then questioned about the items. The defendant was then arrested for possession of drug paraphernalia with intent to use, and was searched incident to that arrest.

<u>Id.</u> at 575, 225 P.3d at 1170. The <u>James</u> Court concluded, based on the limited information before the district court—which did not include the "duration of the detention" or "the extent of questioning"—that James "failed to demonstrate that his freedom of movement was restrained to the degree associated with formal arrest." <u>Id.</u> at 578, 225 P.3d at 1173.

Vaughn similarly failed to meet his threshold burden below to show he was in custody. At the actual motion to suppress hearing, Vaughn did not make any evidence-based argument that he was in custody. (See Tr., p.59, L.9 – p.61, L.8.) He did not show,

much less argue, that a "reasonable person" in Vaughn's position "would believe he or she was in police custody to a degree associated with formal arrest." (See Tr., p.59, L.9 – p.61, L.8.) The district court therefore made no factual findings or legal holdings regarding custody. (Tr., p.66, L.1 – p.67, L.1.)

Later on, at the 404(b) hearing, Vaughn's counsel presented the barest conclusory argument relating to custody: he simply declared, without any legal argument or factual support, that Vaughn was in custody: "The comments on the side of the road—again, there was no rights given at that stage. I do know that he was in police custody at the time of the questioning...." (Tr., p.90, L.25 – p.91, L.3.) Vaughn's attorney did not admit the audio recording of the purported interrogation into evidence, or point to any specific facts supporting his conclusion that his client was in custody. (See Tr., p.90, L.25 – p.91, L.3.) Citing the evidence presented that day, the district court's factual findings were accordingly just as sparse: "Well, *based upon what I've heard this morning*, it appears to the court that there was not a violation of Miranda regarding the information on the tapes at the scene. *From what I've heard, the defendant voluntarily disclosed those things when he was not in custody or otherwise*." (Tr., p.98, Ls.5-10 (emphasis added).) It was Vaughn's burden below to show custody and, based on the limited argument and evidence he proffered, the district court correctly concluded he did not do so.

On appeal, Vaughn's custody argument relies on the facts found in the grand jury transcript and his own testimony at the motion to suppress hearing. (Appellant's brief, pp.7-8.) Vaughn argues the number of officers on scene constituted "unusual or excessive police force in and around the traffic stop," which he claims is one factor showing police custody. (Appellant's brief, p.7 (citing <u>State v. Myers</u>, 118 Idaho 608,

610-11, 798 P.2d 453, 455-56 (Ct. App. 2010).) Vaughn also notes that an officer stood next to him; officers "never returned his identification or registration"; and the stop took place "on the side of a freeway." (Appellant's brief, p.8.) Vaughn claims all of these factors show that "Mr. Vaughn's freedom of movement was restricted in the way associated with a formal arrest." (Appellant's brief, p.8.)⁵

These arguments, even if preserved, fail on the merits. Here, three officers were admittedly present for the investigation, but that was not necessarily "unusual" here, given that Vaughn was stopped as part of a multi-state, ongoing, federal and state surveillance operation. <u>Compare Myers</u>, 118 Idaho at 609-12, 798 P.2d at 454-57 (where the officer was surveilling a specific area, and happened to see a defendant he was "acquainted with … and recognized," after which four police vehicles responded to the traffic stop). Moreover, Vaughn only speculates that another undercover officer "was also *likely* nearby," and counts two officers who "oversaw the stop from a short distance away" as part of the total headcount "in and around the traffic stop." (Appellant's brief, p.8 (emphasis added).) Narrowing the scope to those officers actually *in* the traffic stop, the presence of three officers would not cause a reasonable person to think their freedom of movement was restrained to the degree associated with a formal arrest. <u>But see Myers</u>, 118 Idaho at 609-12, 798 P.2d at 454-57.

Nor does Vaughn show that his freedom of movement was restricted to the degree associated with an arrest simply because law enforcement took his license and registration, stood next to him, and stopped him on the side of a freeway. (See

⁵ Vaughn does not challenge the district court's decision on 404(b)- or 403-based grounds. (See generally, Appellant's brief.)

Appellant's brief, p.8.) One presumes that *every* freeway traffic stop involves all three of these factors—but a routine traffic stop by definition does not necessarily imply an arrest. To the contrary, traffic stops do not "immediately invoke" <u>Miranda</u>, and the "freedom-of-movement inquiry" is "only a necessary and not a sufficient condition for Miranda custody." <u>Berkemer</u>, 468 U.S. at 440; <u>Silver</u>, 155 Idaho at 32, 304 P.3d at 307.

It should be noted that the empirical questions raised by Vaughn's arguments on appeal—such as the typical officer response to a roadside freeway traffic stop—could have easily been litigated by the parties below, had Vaughn properly raised the issue below. <u>See, e.g., Myers</u>, 118 Idaho at 611, 798 P.2d at 456 (where the officer testified as to how many police vehicles would "normally" respond to a traffic stop, and clarified the "reason why several patrol vehicles responded to this particular traffic stop"). This is precisely why parties are required to raise all of their claims below—to identify relevant issues and induce "the timely raising of claims and objections, which gives the [trial] court the opportunity to consider and resolve them," as opposed to asking this Court, *ex post*, to apply an underdeveloped record to an unpreserved claim. <u>See State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, 224, 245 P.3d 961, 976 (2010). Nevertheless, even applying the law to all the facts adduced below, Vaughn has failed to show the district court erred in concluding he was not in custody.

Even if Vaughn's custody arguments have been preserved, they are insufficient to show <u>Miranda</u> custody. Vaughn has failed to show that the district court erred in concluding he was not in custody.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this affirm Vaughn's judgment of conviction.